Fungal immunomodulatory proteins in the context of biomedicine

Paula Tatiana Uribe-Echeverry¹, German Ariel Lopez-Gartner²

¹Health Faculty, University of Manizales, Street 9a # 19-03, Manizales, Colombia, ²Department, Natural Sciences Faculty, University of Caldas, Street 65 # 26-10, Manizales, Colombia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Discovery
- 4. Gene structure and protein characteristics
- 5. Bioactivity in model systems
- 6. Expression of recombinant FIPs
 - 6.1. FIPs production in bacteria
 - 6.2. FIPs production in yeast
 - 6.3. FIPs production in eukaryotic cells.
 - 6.4. FIPs production in basidiomycetes.
 - 6.5. FIPs production in plant cells
 - 6.6. FIPs production by means of transgenic microalgal technology
- 7. Potential in biomedicine
 - 7.1. Hemagglutination
 - 7.2. Cytokine expression
 - 7.3. Antitumor activity
- 8. Concluding remarks and future perspectives
- 9. Acknowledgments
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Fungi represent a large group of biodiverse microorganisms with potential applications ranging from industrial fields to the treatment for human diseases. A large number of pharmacologically active compounds including terpenoids, polysaccharides and proteins have been derived from these microorganisms. Fungal Immunomodulatory Proteins (FIPs) are a group of active compounds that are being considered for the treatment of asthma, allergy, autoimmune diseases and cancer. Here, we discuss the discovery, heterologous production bioactive mechanisms of action and their potential use in biomedicine.

2. INTRODUCTION

There is a growing interest worldwide from the academic and scientific community in search of biologically active compounds derived from plants, microorganisms, marine organisms and fungi as macromycetes. They can be used as efficient drug therapies or as aids in the treatment of various diseases

as efficient adjuvant agents, decreasing side effects and adverse reactions expressed over other types of drugs (1). This has stimulated the identification and evaluation of a number of natural compounds throughout both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experimental assays of different secondary metabolites and proteins derived from such organisms. Fungus, in particular mushrooms, offer an interesting opportunity for the search of new therapeutic compounds, due to their amount, diversity, culture and manageable genomes, compared with plants.

For ancient times, medicinal fungi have been an abundant source of bio compounds with multiple beneficial effects on human health. Mueller and Schmith (2007) suggest that the traditional estimate of the number of fungal species in about 1.5 million species is still very modest and does not include such species from complex environmental samples, in many cases without fully description (2). From the species that presumably exist, only about 5 to 7 % are formally

described. However, some more recent estimation, suggest that there are in total about 5.1 million species of fungi, surpassing plant biodiversity in proportions that may exceed the ratio of 11:1 in the near future (3).

Among the fungi described, higher fungi comprise four main phyla: Chytridiomycota, Zygomycota, Ascomycota and Basidiomycota, whose species have chitinous cell walls, a fundamental difference with plant cells (4).

In particular, the species within the Ascomycota and Basidiomycota divisions considered from the point of evolutionary and phylogenetic areas, the main representatives of the "higher fungi". Among these, the macromycetes offer one of the best possibilities for culinary, as well as therapeutic applications, due to their richness and complexity of bioactive compounds. Recently, there are about 700 recognized species of Basidiomycetes, presumably, with significant pharmacological activities (5). Unfortunately, only 5 to 10% of species of fungi for human use can grow efficiently (6).

A very interesting aspect of biotechnological prospection of fungi, specifically in the field of biomedical sciences, derives from the proven fact that many of the models for drug development from natural products correspond to bioactive substances as secondary metabolites coming from them (7). However, even more important is the fact that most of the discovered secondary metabolites in higher fungi have characteristic chemical structures of drugs (5, 7-12).

Macromycetes have also been an excellent source of protein in world cuisine, mainly due to low fat and no cholesterol. In addition, many of their proteins have shown interesting biological activities, as in the case of *fungal immunomodulatory proteins* (FIPs), ribosome inactivating proteins (RIPs), lectins, laccases and other proteins that have become very popular as medicinal sources, primarily acting as immunomodulatory agents, antitumor, antimicrobials, antifungals, antivirals and antioxidants (13).

For the reasons mentioned above, this review is aimed to show a general perspective on the discovery, molecular structure, recombinant expression in the laboratory and biological significance of fungal immunomodulatory proteins, and their potential use in the pharmacological treatment of several important diseases from the standpoint of public health.

3. DISCOVERY

In 1989, Kino *et al*, reported the first fungal immunomodulatory protein (FIP) called Ling Zhi-8 (LZ-8), isolated from the fruiting body of Ling Zhi medicinal

fungi (Ganoderma lucidum) (14). From that date. six other FIPs in species of the genus Ganoderma have been reported: FIP-gts of G. tsugae (15), FIPgsi of G. sinensis (16), FIP -gja of G. japonicum (Genbank: AAX9824), FIP-gmi G. Microsporum (17), FIP-gas of G. atrum (GenBank: KM077027.1) and FIP-gap G. applanatum (Genbank: AEP68179). Other eleven fungal immunomodulatory proteins have been described at molecular or sequence level in other Basidiomycetes: FIP-fve of Flammulina velutipes (18), FIP-vvo of straw mushroom (19), FIP-Apl of Auricularia polytricha (20), FIP-aca of Antrodia camphorate (21). FIP-PCIP Pleurotus citrinopileatus (22), FIP-PCP of Poria cocos (23), FIP-tvc of Trametes versicolor (24,25), FIP-ppl Postia placenta (26), FIPcru Chroogomphis rutilus (27), FIP-Lrh of Lignosus rhinocerotis (Tiger milk mushroom) (28), FIP-tfu of Tremella fuciformis (GenBank: EF152774) and FIPnha Nectria haemotococca edge Ascomycetes (29).

Subsequently, roughly around other sixteen putative FIPs have been reported from different edible or medicinal mushrooms at the nucleic acids sequence level. For example, recent genome sequencing of *Lignosus rhinocerotis* revealed two putative FIPs (GME7566_g and GME10641_g), named FIP-Lrh, both exhibited 64% identity to FIP-glu (30).

In spite of the study of twenty FIPs since the first FIP was isolated from *Ganoderma lucidum*, today, only five proteins at the crystallographic level are reported as accessions in the Protein Data Bank (PDB).

4. GENE STRUCTURE AND PROTEIN CHARACTERISTICS

FIPs identified and isolated from edible and medicinal macromycetes, constitute a family of proteins characterized by high structural and functional similarity. In addition, this family shares certain level of sequence similarity with the immunoglobulin protein family. Phylogenetic analysis can be used to test if both protein families may have originated from the same common ancestor, as it has been hypothesized since its discovery of LZ-8 (31).

It is noticeable that among the different FIPs, their primary structure had 60–70% similarity, and the sequences of LZ-8 (FIP-glu) and FIP-gts even shared the same amino acids (15). Interestingly, most of them exhibit homology to the family of the immunoglobulins (Ig) and phytohaemagglutinin, as they have high similarity of sequence in the variable region in the heavy chain of immunoglobulins (28, 31-33).

Sequence analysis, reveals that FIPs have similar structure and immunoregulatory activity to phytohaemagglutinin and immunoglobulins. Taking into

consideration that the fungal and the animal kingdom are related as they both belong to the Ophistokonts, with a common ancestor existing about 1 billion years ago (34-35); the idea that the FIPs family and the mammal immunoglobulins family may conserve a substantial proportion of similarities and related functions, results attractive. This is applicable to some physiological mechanisms; for example, in response to various abiotic or biotic signals as filamentous fungi produce small signaling and/or defensive bioactive molecules (28, 36-37). This mechanism is equivalent to some molecular responses of immune systems in vertebrates.

Another interesting evolutionary relationship between fungi and animals emerge from the analysis of the Velvet protein family. These proteins are involved in the regulation of the secondary metabolism as well as the control of tissue growth and differentiation in most clades of the fungal kingdom from chytrids to basidiomycetes, including the model mold Aspergillus nidulans (37-38). The structure of the Velvet domain is strongly reminiscent of the N-terminal immunoglobulinlike domain found in the mammalian transcription factor NFkBp50. It is proposed that, like NFkB, various homo- or heterodimers of Velvet proteins, modulate gene expression to drive development and defensive pathways in fungi. Taken together, this suggests a common functional origin for the coordination of fungal development with secondary metabolism and the immuno-inflammatory response control in vertebrates, including humans (39).

It will be interesting to determine what additional common features exist between fungal and animal proteins and genes. Recently, it has been shown that the physical interactions between the two deneddylases: the COP9 signalosome and DEN1/DenA, a developmental regulator protein, are conserved between humans and fungi; COP9 signalosome supports proteasome-dependent protein degradation of DEN1/DenA in fungi as well as in human cells (39-40).

Ganoderma, FIP LZ-8 was the first fungal immunomodulatory protein that was isolated and characterized, extracted from Ganoderma lucidum (Genbank Accession No. M58032.1) (31). Complete gene sequence encoding for FIP LZ-8 consists of 1029 bp. This gene has a promoter region with TATA motif (TATAAA) located 88 nucleotides upstream the consensus site at transcription initiation. The position of the promoter is similar to that reported when the gene is present in filamentous fungi and yeasts, in which there are two repeated sequences (GCAATTC), 80 nucleotides upstream of the promoter sequence, which acts as a proximal determinant element involved in transcription intensity control. The 5'-UTR no coding region has a length of 119 bp, single intron

is located within this sequence with a length of 61 bp; the open reading frame is located between 527 to 866 nucleotides, including the start codon ATG and the stop codon TAG. The polyadenylation signal, useful in determining mRNA stability in the cytoplasm, is at nucleotide position 996 (28, 31). Due to their small size, FIPs can be easily modified at the molecular level, with potential use in a wide-range of industrial applications.

In the fungus *Ganoderma, sinense* the complete sequence of the gene FIP-gsi has a length of 1072 bp (16). Both, the gene sequence and the location of the structural and regulatory elements, are similar to those reported for FIP LZ-8 in *G. lucidum*.

Description of this gene at the sequence and structural level is useful for comparative analysis with respect to other sequences. In a recent work. 11 different immunomodulatory proteins downloaded from the NCBI website were used to perform a sequence alignment between them and the two proteins GL18769 and GL18770, annotated in NCBI as gi|126657 and gi|187961980, respectively. These proteins were identified as likely immunomodulatory proteins from a proteomic analysis in Ganoderma lucidum (41). The two proteins showed a high similarity with the 11 proteins reported in GeneBank. From this analysis, it could be suggested that these proteins shared the same conserved amino acid sequence responsible for the bioactivity, which certainly could aid in immunomodulatory protein engineering in the future.

The different cDNA sequences and genomic DNA of several FIPs reported in Genbank have an open reading frame between 330 to 350 bp, which determines that this protein family consists of 110 to 116 amino acids and a molecular weight of 12.4 to 15 KDa (33). When aligning amino acid sequences of different species, several FIPs showed a high level of homology in their primary structure (28). This suggests that it is a highly conserved protein on its molecular evolution and that may be necessary for the growth and development of the fungus (25). These proteins are rich in the aminoacids aspartate, histidine and valine, but characterized by lack of cysteine and methionine (33).

There is a report that FIP LZ-8 is a glycoprotein containing 1.3% carbohydrate, although, in other FIP isolated by chemical methods in other macromycetes genus not glycosylation reported in their structure; however, there was glycosylation observed in some FIPs expressed by means of recombinant technologies in eukaryotic systems (42-43).

Secondary structure analysis performed in FIP-glu LZ-8 (from *Ganoderma lucidum*), FIP-gsi (from

Ganoderma sinensis), FIP-gmi (from Ganoderma microsporum), and FIP-fve (from Flammulina velutipes), indicates that the N-terminus has one α -helix constituted by 13 amino acids that stabilize the protein by hydrophobic interactions (43). This favors its homodimeric structure and its immunomodulatory activity, such as activation of interleukin 2 (IL-2) and interferon (INF- γ) (43-45). The FIPs also exhibit seven β sheets with conserved amino acids sequences, which are essential for the recognition of cell surface (23, 33, and 46).

The importance of hydrophobic interactions for the formation of homodimer in FIP-ats (from Ganoderma tsugae) was demonstrated by Lin et al. (1997) when conducting an experiment in twohybrid yeast system; for which they designed various constructions exhibiting deletions in the amino acids constituting the α-helix N-terminus. The mutant proteins showed absence of 13 amino acids and hydrophobic amino acids located at positions 5, 7 and 9, and that corresponds to leucine, phenylalanine and leucine, respectively (15). When testing double hybrid these were unable to join the wild type phenotype of FIP-ats to form the dimer, which led to the conclusion that the quaternary structure of the FIP-gts may be the way to trigger the immunomodulatory response in the cells of vertebrates throughout mechanisms of signal transduction (15).

5. BIOACTIVITY IN MODEL SYSTEMS

Many fungi, especially the mushrooms, have been intensely studied as important sources of natural compounds, including secondary metabolites and peptides like FIPs, with many potential effects in human health, as well as other applications including promising bioactivities for commercial developments (11-12, 47-58)

Since the discovery of FIPs, several immunomodulatory effects with promising beneficial potentialities in human health have been reported (59). For this reason, several FIPs, including LZ-8, are considered good candidates for the development of functional food supplements or therapeutic agents for use in the prevention or treatment of cancer and autoimmune diseases (43, 60-61).

Despite of being highly conserved in primary sequence and structure, FIPs family members have disparate biological activities (62). For example, aggregation of FIPs is commonly observed in red blood cells, and different FIPs uniquely hemagglutinate various red blood cells (14, 18). Using *in situ* experiments, it has been broadly demonstrated that different FIPs are able to stimulate mouse splenocytes proliferation (63) and human peripheral blood lymphocytes (hPBLs) (31,59). These effects are more

commonly related with changes in the expression of several cytokines, including IL-2, IFN- γ , and TNF- α (44).

In a number of experiments *in vivo*, several FIPs exhibit preventive effects on systemic anaphylactic reactions and significantly decrease mouse footpad edema during the Arthus reaction (64). In addition to immunomodulatory activities, antitumor functions of FIPs have been researched extensively (65).

Many studies are focused mainly on the elucidation of immunity factors like cytokines, as a response to either crude extracts or specific compounds or toxins produced naturally by fungi. For example, *Ganoderma lucidum* fraction, with high content of polysaccharides activate the expression of a series of cytokines like IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-12, TNF- α , and IFN- γ , but reduces IL-4 and IL-10 release in mice cells (66).

According to these evidences, that is to say, the immunoglobulin superfamily could be traced back to fungi. In this regard, it is almost obvious and very interesting to study whether there is any evolutionary relationship between the activity mechanisms of immunoglobulins in vertebrates and immunomodulatory activity exerted by FIPs in animal cells. In fact, recently Ipcho et al. (2016) found strong evidence that plants and animals detect bacterial presence through Microbe-Associated Molecular Patterns (MAMPs): which induce an innate immune response in these taxa. However, little is known at the molecular level about the interactions between fungi and their beneficial or pathogenic invaders, and less is known in relation to the mechanisms that explain how fungi detect and differentiate its microbial allies from their natural enemies (67).

Nonetheless, experimentally it has been demonstrated that most FIPs have the ability to enhance the immune response in a number of vertebrate's model systems. This is presumably by means of stimulating the expression of important cytokines and molecular factors related with the immune response, including IL-2, IL-4, IL-12, TNF- α , and IFN- γ , among others (33, 43, 52, 68-69). The evidence for the mechanisms was gathered using several model organisms, including humans and other vertebrates (68). The FIPs can be also useful products for the treatment or prevention of autoimmune diseases and cancer, among others. Also to relieve pain or side effects caused by drugs in cancer patients (60- 61, 70). For these reasons, the FIPs should be consider good candidates for new developments in the field of functional foods as well as in the pharmaceutical industry.

The FIPs have been isolated from both, the haploid mycelium, and from the diploid fruiting body of various macromycetes fungi, particularly from the

phylum Basidiomycota. For several FIPs there is an experimental description of the basic DNA encoding sequence of the gene, and the primary, secondary and tertiary conformation of the protein (33, 43, 71). There are also insights about their effects on the immune system of vertebrate (29, 69), however it is not known in depth the molecular mechanism that triggers the immunomodulatory response (26, 72).

For example, some FIPs have an important effect at the cellular level of defense mechanisms at the immune system in model vertebrates. For instance, it has been demonstrated that FIP-pcp of Poria cocos is a key factor in signaling through TLR4 in peritoneal macrophages and induce co-stimulatory signals of CD3/CD28, increasing significantly the surface expression of CD44 and CD69 on effector T cells. FIPpcp could also upregulate T-bet and STAT4 expressions and IFN-v and IL-2 secretions. Oral administration of FIP-pcp suppressed the production of both total and OVA-specific IgG1 in serum and enhanced the amounts of serum and OVA-specific IgG2a and Th1related cytokine production in BALB/c splenocytes. In addition, oral administration of FIP-PCP significantly reduced IL-4 and IgE expressions in a murine model of atopic dermatitis. These results provide evidence that FIP-pcp could regulate mammalian immune cells and reveal their pharmaceutical potential in developing therapeutic strategies against Th2-mediated immune disorders (73).

6. EXPRESSION OF RECOMBINANT FIPS

One of the prominent limitations when it comes to take advantage of the health benefits attributed to FIPs extracted directly from the fungus tissue is that the concentration of these proteins is very low when direct chemical extraction methods are used; moreover, a large amount of biomass for its extraction is required. Recently, fermentation of Ganoderma lucidium mycelia and purification of LZ-8 represents the main method in order to obtain LZ-8. but this process is costly, time consuming, and results in a low yield (60). For example, direct extraction of native FIPs from mushrooms resulted costly and timeconsuming; approximately 5 to 10 mg of purified FIP LZ-8 was obtained from 340 g of mycelia (14). This problem becomes an important issue when attempting to get an industrial production of the fungal proteins (72,74).

In order to overcome this back draw, it has been suggested since the late 90s, the use of recombinant protein technologies (75). For this purpose, different expression systems have been evaluated, both in prokaryotic and in eukaryotic cells; all of them overcome some of the difficulties related to the direct chemical extraction methods, such as contamination with other undesirable fungi cellular proteins and limiting native

concentrations impede scaling to industrial level in order to increase production (60). Quantitatively, in the biopharmaceuticals industry, microbial production of recombinant proteins still predominates over mammalian-based expression systems. For example, the total biopharmaceutical manufacturing activity in 2010 equated to some 26.4 metric tons (26,400 kg) of pure protein (active pharmaceutical ingredients) of which some 17.9 metric tons (68 %) were derived from microbial systems, with the remaining 8.5 metric tons (32 %) derived from mammalian systems (56).

In the next sections, we will describe some selected and illustrative examples of FIPs production under the most common recombinant protein methodologies.

6.1. FIPs production in bacteria

Escherichia coli is the most commonly gram negative bacteria used as an expression system of recombinant proteins for therapeutic use in humans, such as insulin, growth hormone and parathyroid hormone, among others (76-77). E. coli is very popular for recombinant DNA technology due to the extensive knowledge of its genomic organization, genetic regulation machinery, metabolism and physiology, which facilitates the genetic manipulations required (78). Also, transformation with exogenous DNA in this bacterium is relatively simple and quick, due in part to their accelerated growth rate in standard growing media; high productivity of the recombinant proteins and a low production cost (78). Therefore, there is a wide variety of E. coli strains and plasmids available on the market designed to promote the expression and purification of recombinant proteins (78). Despite its undeniable advantages, this expression system may present contamination by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) that trigger immune response in humans and other mammals (76,79). It lacks cellular components for post-translational modifications (required by a protein of eukaryotic origin) and for secretion of the protein. often generating inclusion bodies that require special technical protocols for the purification and recovery of the protein of interest (76,79).

In *E. coli*, several fungal immunomodulatory proteins, including FIP-LZ8, FIP-fve, FIP-nha, FIP-tvc and FIP-gsi, have been expressed, with different yield percentages of soluble protein (79-80). Differences in gene regulation mechanisms in different species of macromycetes, as well as unequal efficiencies in recombinant vectors or *E. coli* strains or both, may explain in part this effect (79-80).

The immunomodulatory activity of FIPs expressed in *E. coli*, implemented with commercial recombinant systems, have demonstrated being adequate in most of the cases, except for the reFIP-fve

(25,75). Surprisingly in this case, it showed a higher activity when extracted directly from the fruiting body of the fungus *Flammulina velutipes*, than that expressed by means of the recombinant *E. coli* system. According to these authors, this effect could probably be due to inappropriate protein folding under the expression system used in this experiment (75)

Besides *E. coli*, there have been used *Bacillus subtilis* and *Lactoccocus lactis* for heterologous expression of FIP LZ-8 (60). Nowadays, the genetic engineering technologies available, allow the easy manipulation of these expression systems as well; they provide an additional advantage over *E. coli* associated with the faculty to secrete the heterologous proteins, which is useful for the purification stage (60, 81-82). In addition, in the United States, the FDA agency (Food and Drug Administration), recognizes that some of these bacteria strains are safe organisms, regarding the absence of toxic amounts of the dangerous toxins (lipopolysaccharides (LPS)); for this reasons they are considered important tools for the production of therapeutic molecules in biomedicine (81-82).

For instance, the expression analysis B. subtilis and L. lactis of the reFIP-LZ-8 was used as vectors (60). They compared several expression systems that take advantage of the secretory faculty of the strains used. They evaluated the expression levels under different vector-strain combinations, as well as the biological activity of the recombinant proteins produced, in terms of the capacity for the stimulation of cytokines in different mammal cell lines. These authors showed that reFIP LZ-8 expressed in B. subtilis and L. lactis is homodimeric, as has been reported previously for this protein, but in this experiment with a slightly different conformation responsible for the increased immunomodulatory capacity. The authors concluded that recombinant LZ-8 exhibited potent antitumor activities and different capacities for modulating Th1 and Th2 cytokines. The recombinant LZ-8 may be useful in immunoprophylaxis for food allergies and other allergic diseases or cancer therapy. The recombinant LZ-8 purified from B. subtilis can be used as a food supplement, while optimization of expression and secretion efficiency in food-grade L. lactis will provide a useful source of recombinant LZ-8 for safe use as an orally administered agent (60)

6.2. FIPs production in yeast

Nowadays, the yeast *Pichia pastoris* is one of the most popular systems for the production of recombinant proteins; as a methylotrophic, this yeast uses methanol as the inductor of expression (83). *P. pastoris* possesses several advantages over other expression systems. It presents a rapid growth media culture, absence of contamination by endotoxins and bacteriophages; furthermore, the fermentation and

culture medium system for the growing of the yeast result simple and economic and is suitable for large-scale industrial production. Due to the gene structure of the vectors employed *P. pastoris*, it has the ability to post-translationally modify, fold and secrete heterologous proteins into the media; allowing an easier purification process (83-84).

There are several examples with *P. pastoris* used as a system for heterologous expression of reFIPs; the results show a good performance and stable percentage of biological activity (71). Lin *et al.* (2013) cloned and expressed reFIP-fve in *P. pastoris;* reaching a yield between 191.2 to 258.2 mg/l, as assessed by quantitative analysis (85). This is significantly higher than that reported for reFIP-fve and reFIP-gts expressed in *E. coli* and insect cells with a yield of 5 mg/l and 20 mg/l, respectively (15,75). Additionally, recent efforts promise that reFIPs are being scaled-up to industrial production in a 100-l fermentation tan with the yield over 800 mg/l (46, 85).

6.3. FIPs production in eukaryotic cells

In an effort to improve the quality and the bioactivity of recombinant proteins, in a series of cases it has been used successfully Sf21from insect cell lines. These cells derive from the insect Spodoptera frugiperda, from where cells were isolated for the first time in 1977. The cell line is manipulated to obtain recombinant proteins using baculovirus as the expression vector, which does not infect vertebrates, and therefore does not generate toxic or pathogenic compounds that may affect the human health (86). Among the principal advantages of Sf21 cells include simplicity of manipulation, eukaryotic-like post-translational maturation, and ability to produce quaternary structure in the recombinant proteins generated. Recent experiments pointed out that their main disadvantages are associated with slow growth, which increases costs; and risk of contamination of the cell cultures by rhabdovirus in commercial lines, affecting biosecurity for industrial applications (13,43,86).

In 2006, Jinn *et al.* cloned the gene FIP-gts from *Ganoderma tsugae* on a PAcP10 vector to generate a recombinant baculovirus, which cotransfected Sf21 insect cells with the aim of obtaining the heterologous expression of rFIP-gts and its possible use for oral administration. The experimental design involved the *E. coli* protein expression system in order to compare the efficiency of protein produced in both systems. Optimal expression of rFIP-gts in Sf21 cells was observed, and the yield was up to 47.2 μ g/3x10 6 infected cells. The immunomodulatory activity of the purified rFIP-gts was detected as the induction of interleukin 2 released from murine splenocytes. Compared with the rFIP-gts produced in *E. coli* cells,

the rFIP-gts produced in Sf21 cells possessed evidently higher specific immunomodulatory activity. This suggests that the lack of posttranslational modification in bacteria may affect the folding and bioactivity of rFIPs produced in prokaryotic systems. Regarding the possibility of oral administration of rFIP-gts as possible therapeutic agents during pharmaceutical treatment of diseases like cancer and autoimmune diseases, the Sf21-Baculovirus recombinant protein system at scalable production appears as a very attractive alternative (87). However, other publications suggest that rFIP-gts showed a short half-life, probably due to proteolytic degradation process (13,43).

A comparative analysis of the synthesis of rFIP-gts transfected with baculovirus between Sf21 cells and insect larvae *Trichoplusia ni* (inoculated by aerosol), showed that both models correctly express the FIP-gts with a very similar efficiency. It is suggested that the use of *Trichoplusia ni* larvae, inoculated with aerosol, can reduce the time and costs of rFIP-gts production for biomedical applications (88).

A rFIP-fve produced also in Sf21 cells exhibited high expression levels (6.25 mg/l, equivalent to $3.1\,\mu g/1x10^6$ cells) when transfected with baculovirus carrying the expression vector vAcP10SPbbxFve; however, it was found that 96 hours after infection there was breakdown of insect cells and recombinant protein degradation (89). Nevertheless, this is higher performance than that obtained when using *E. coli* as expression system (5.0 mg/l) (75).

6.4 FIPs production in basidiomycetes

Since the identification of FIPs, some efforts have been made using basidiomycetes as an alternative model for the production of these recombinant peptides; also, other compounds of pharmacological interest present in the macromycetes whose production could be scaled at industrial level and at lower cost under certain conditions (70). For instance. Coprinopsis cinerea is a small macromycete. whose life cycle is completed in two weeks. It can be easily grown in the laboratory in defined media and engineered by mutation or transformation at all stages of development, making it an experimental model for the study of multicellular development (90-91). For example, using this heterologous peptide production system, FIP-gsi was expressed in C. cinerea, cotransformed with plasmids pCc1001 and pBfip.gsi, purified from fresh mycelium, and lyophilized. The recombinant protein was produced with a yield of 314 mg/kg (70).

However, working with basidiomycetes and filamentous fungi in cell culture may bring some problems; for example, oxygenation of cultures employing fragile cells, such as animal cells and filamentous fungi, is

often problematic, as sparging and agitation are limited to shear stresses that are not harmful. Typical energy dissipation rates in bioreactors are usually below those deleterious to animal cells; thus, damage from agitation should not be expected (74).

6.5. FIPs production in plant cells:

For the production of recombinant proteins with applications in biomedicine, it has been found useful the use of plant cells as an efficient expression system compared with others (92-95). It offers several advantages over other systems, including the low cost of biomass production, high scalability and good biosecurity due, in theory, to the lack of pathogens that may be transmitted to humans or animals affecting their health (92).

However, the post-translational modification made in the Golgi apparatus of plant cells, differs from animals because plants do not have the capacity to produce some carbohydrates present in human glycoproteins such as β -1, 4 galactose and sialic acid. Instead, plant cells add monosaccharides such as xylose and α -1,3 fucose, which may alter the bioactivity of the molecule and trigger immunogenicity in humans (92).

Su et al, 2012 transformed rice suspension cells by means of Agrobacterium tumefaciens to express the fusion protein Der p 2-FVE; which consisted of FIP-fve fused with a major allergen from the mite body Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus (Der p 2). Rice transformed cells produced 7.5 mg/l of protein, corresponding to 10.5 percent of the secreted proteins. The evaluation of the biological activity in vivo and in vitro suggested that this as a viable system for protein production with immunotherapeutic potential for treatment of allergic diseases, as it potentiates the immune response (96).

Cong *et al.* (2014) cloned the promoter of the gene coding for FIP-fve using the methodology of chromosome walking in order to understand expression regulation mechanisms of FIP-fve. The expression vector contained the GUS reporter gene (β -glucuronidase) and GFP (Green Fluorescent Protein). They performed a transformation on tobacco leaf discs with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. Evaluation of the transformed plants showed that the promoter of FIP-fve induced expression of the reporter genes, opening the possibility that transgenic plants can be used for the production of FIPs (97).

6.6. FIPs production by means of transgenic microalgal technology:

Bacterial and yeast-based bioreactors are the most widely used systems for the production

of recombinant proteins since they are very well characterized, because their genomes are easy to manipulate, and their cultivation is simple and inexpensive (98- 100). Bacteria, however, do not perform the post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications, including glycosylation, phosphorylation and disulfide bond formation, required for the correct folding and assembly of more complex proteins. This is important in relation with the need for production of human therapeutic peptides by means of biotechnology using heterologous protein systems in bioreactors. In this case, other models including yeasts may represent an attractive alternative approach, because eukarvotic veasts can perform these modifications: but again, there is a limitation; most of the times their profiles are unsuitable for therapeutic proteins for animal or human consumption. The main reason for this is that recombinant proteins in yeast are usually hyperglycosylated, which alters immunogenic epitopes. and the high-mannose glycosylation performed in such systems results in low in vivo half-life of proteins: Both factors in many instances may compromise the therapeutic activity of the products (99-100).

On the other hand, plant-based reactors, even though are much less expensive than their mammalian and insect counterparts and resistant to most animal infecting pathogens, have slow growth cycles and are linked with concerns relating to environmental contamination by genetically modified plants. Although differences are observed in glycosylation profiles between animal and plant cells, in many cases the stability, correct folding and resistance to proteases of mammalian-derived products have not been significantly affected. However, the major drawback of therapeutic applications of any plant derived from recombinant protein is plant-specific protein glycosylation, which may cause allergic reactions in patients. Plant-derived proteoglycans have been linked to allergic reactions, which is a major concern for recombinant proteins destined for human therapeutic applications (101,103)

Although transgenic microalgal technology is still in its infancy, microalgae may represent the best of both worlds by combining simple inexpensive growth requirements, with a rapid growth rate and potential for high-density culture of microorganisms, and capabilities for post-transcriptional and post-translational processing of plants, without any known toxic side effect (104). However, the development of economically viable microalgal expression systems is hindered by low recombinant protein yields (99,104).

As pointed out, the production of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins in heterologous systems has increased significantly and there are a number of commercial alternatives available. Most applications in human health involve complex proteins and

glycoproteins that are difficult to produce, thus promoting the development and improvement of a wide range of production platforms. This is having an important impact in the market for recombinant pharmaceutical proteins, which explains its rapid expansion in the last few years (2, 56,105 - 107). Yet, no individual system is optimal for the production of all recombinant proteins: So, the diversity of platforms should be considered and evaluated carefully, before a major endeavor with prospects for scalability is going to be attempted.

7. POTENTIAL IN BIOMEDICINE

Regardless of the methodology used for the production and purification of fungal immunomodulatory proteins from different species of macromycetes, all research on FIPs include evaluations of the biological activity in different model cell lines and laboratory organisms. They fund bioactivities mainly related with clumping of red blood cells, induction of cytokine expression, antitumor properties, anti-anaphylaxis, and anti-inflammatory activity, among others. This provides an advance in the knowledge of the immunomodulatory effects and potential applications of this protein family as a promise for their use as adjuvants for the treatment of cancer, inflammatory diseases and immunodeficiency, among others. In the next part, we will mention some research reports dealing with important bioactivities of the FIPs in relation with human health supported by experimental evidence.

7.1. Hemagglutination:

Hemagglutination assays promoted in vertebrates by FIPs usually make use of tests in whole blood samples taken from sheep, rabbit, rat, mouse or human. *In vitro* assays of biological activity indicated that the rFIP-nha obtained from ascomycete *Nectria haematococca* caused hemagglutination of human and rabbit red blood cells, significantly stimulated mouse spleen lymphocyte proliferation, and enhanced expression of interleukin-2 (IL-2) released from mouse splenocytes, revealing a strong antitumor effect against several human cell lines, including HL60, HepG2 and MGC823 (29).

Recently, a novel FIP gene from Chroogomphis rutilus (FIP-cru) was cloned, analyzed, and effectively expressed in *P. pastoris* GS115 (27). The recombinant rFIP-cru exhibited bioactivities, including the agglutination of mouse and sheep blood cells, the induction of murine splenocyte proliferation, and the enhancement of IL-2 secretion. With regard to its bioactivity, interestingly rFIP-cru can agglutinate mouse and sheep red blood cells but not human red blood cells. It is suggested that rFIP-cru can be effectively produced in its bioactive form with the

P. pastoris expression system (27). Similar to other FIPs, rFIP-cru preliminarily exhibits certain biological activities *in vitro*. Given its basic properties, rFIP-cru probably possesses other immune-stimulating properties, which require further investigation (27).

7.2. Cytokine expression

Cytokines are proteins produced by various cells of the immune system that typically exhibit pleiotropic effects on a number of mechanisms mainly related with regulation of the immune response, development of the hematopoietic cell lineage and cell-cell communication, among others. They are highly localized in soluble signaling proteins produced by many cells of the immune system (neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, B-cells, and T-cells) to regulate immune responses. There are several different families of cytokines and the number continue to grow. For example, the interleukin family is categorized in numerical order (up to IL-38) and other families include those describing functional activity such as the tumor necrosis family. Among the most studied cytokines are the interleukins (IL), tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interferons (INF), colony stimulating factors (CSF) and chemokines. Cytokines differ, in their not only function, but also have a wide variety of molecular weight ranges from approximately 6 to 70 kDa (108).

Studies of cytokine expression induced in model cells and organisms by means of FIP administration are mainly based on techniques including RT-PCR and ELISA tests. They are frequently performed in mouse spleen cells. In order to test FIPs bioactivity the protocols generally use cell lines grown in appropriate media, for example RPMI 1640 supplemented with fetal bovine serum and antibiotics. Suspended cells are then incubated with different concentrations of FIPs in order to assess production levels of different cytokines. In cases in which RT-PCR is applied, the expression of different interleukins as IL-2. IL-4. IL-6. interferon gamma (INF-v) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) are analyzed in a quantitative manner. In the case of expression analyzes by ELISA, the techniques are limited by the availability of appropriated antibodies and the results are mainly qualitative (25-26, 44, 46, 80, 85).

Consistently, it has been observed that FIPs of different species of fungi promote the expression of different cytokine profiles, either in relation with the dosage used or with the molecular modification and structural conformation adopted. For instance, Fip-vvo purified from crude extracts of *Volvariella volvacea* cell cultures markedly enhanced the expression of interleukins IL-2, IL-4, TNF-a, IFN-c, LT and IL-2R, but not IL-1, IL-3, IL-5 or IL-6, tested in a dose-dependent fashion using mouse spleen cells and human peripheral

blood lymphocytes (19). The proliferative response induced by Fip-vvo was similar to that induced by LZ-8 and Fip-fve; however, Fip-vvo is 20-fold more potent than Fip-fve on lymphocyte activation (18-19, 75).

In other study, recombinant protein rFIP-gts cloned from *Ganoderma sinensis* and produced in *Escherichia coli* expression system, was able to induce significant amounts of IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-2R, but not in the case of IL-1 α , IL-5, IL-6, and LT (80). This suggests that rFIP-gts is mainly acting on Th1 cells and less on Th2 cells, which is in agreement with the effects of FIP-vvo, which could enhance transcriptional expression of IL-2, IL-4, IFN- γ , TNF- α , LT, and IL-2R (19).

When rFip-gts was produced in the insect cell model *Trichoplusia ni* inoculated with recombinant baculovirus, it possesses the same power as LZ-8 in inducing IL-2 in murine splenocytes (88). In contrast, in the same study the level of IL-2 induction resulting from the non-glycosylated rFip-gts was lower than the glycosylated form of the recombinant protein. Evidently, the glycosylated form of rFip-gts produced in *Trichoplusia ni* larva possesses a higher specific immunomodulatory activity than those non-glycosylated rFip-gts. The results also indicated that the post-translation processing of rFip-gts could play an important role in enhancing and maintaining the required immunomodulatory activity exerted by rFip-gts on the T lymphocytes (88).

These experiments illustrate that the differences presented by the various FIPs with respect to differences in expression levels of cytokines and bioactivities most probably may be related to changes present in the secondary and tertiary structure of these proteins and modifications derived from the host cell used for the expression process.

7.3. Antitumor activity

According to the data gathered from World Health Organization (WHO), cancer has become one of the leading causes of death worldwide (109). This comes to show the necessity of new alternatives that contribute to the curative treatments or acting as efficient adjuvants in order to reduce the incidence of these diseases. Efficient adjuvants should enhance robust and long-lasting adaptive antigen-specific immune responses that confer strong prophylactic and therapeutic antitumor effects.

In this regard, there have been several studies focused on analyzing the potential effects of FIPs in cancer cells, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, in different cancer cell lines, which would be a starting point for future development of drugs with high efficiency, high specificity and low toxicity (43).

A prerequisite for an adjuvant to function properly is the activation of innate immunity. The protein FIP-fve obtained from crude extracts of Flammulina velutipes cell culture was evaluated by its potential application as an adjuvant for antitumor immunotherapy (110). When the human papillomavirus (HPV) the)- and with 16 E7 oncoprotein, were used in mice coimmunized with HPV-16 E7 and FIP-fve... showed enhanced production of HPV-16 E7- in specific antibodies as well as expansion of HPV-16 E7-specific interferon (IFN)-y producing CD4+ and CD8+ T cells as compared with mice immunized with HPV-16 E7 alone. In addition, they found that HPV-16 E7 plus FIP-fve co-immunization significantly up-regulated HPV-16 E7-specific IgG1 and IgG2c. Also in this study, FIP-fve induced the splenic dendritic cells phenotypic maturation in vivo. Tumor therapeutic assays showed that this treatment significantly prolonged the survival of tumor-bearing mice. Interestingly, FIP-fve could stimulate the maturation of splenic dendritic cells in vivo and induce antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell immune responses; making of FIP-fve a potent adjuvant that acts as a protector with properties that enhance T helper type one antigen-specific humoral and cellular immune responses, which confer strong antitumor effects. This opens the possibility of using FIP-fve as an efficient adjuvant, an attractive alternative to the current vaccination strategy for cancer immunotherapy (110).

Recently, a new approach in immunotherapy has been gaining attention; DNA vaccination is a powerful strategy for antigen-specific immunotherapy against various diseases, including cancer; nevertheless, the low efficacy of DNA vaccines in large animals and humans has impaired their practical use (111-112). Therefore, development of novel strategies to increase the DNA vaccine potency is a primary goal in cancer therapy. In this direction, the identification of strong adjuvants appear as a promising opportunity for enhancing the immunogenicity of DNA vaccines.

In this respect, recombinant FIP LZ-8 cloned from Ganoderma lucidum and produced in a veast expression system stimulate mouse bone marrowderived dendritic cells via TLR4; its stimulatory effect was not due to any microbe contaminant. In addition, FIP LZ-8 enhanced the ability of dendritic cells to induce antigen-specific T cell activation in vitro and in a vaccine model in vivo (113). Interestingly, in this report FIP LZ-8 co-treatment strongly improved the therapeutic effect of DNA vaccine against MBT-2 tumor cells in mice. The research provides strong evidence that FIP LZ-8-stimulate dendritic cells and can induce antigen-specific T cell activation, both in vitro and in vivo. The secretion of IL-12 from dendritic cells and the production of IFN-y from activated T cells indicate that dendritic cells FIP LZ-8-stimulated promote preferentially the pathway on Th1 differentiation (113).

FIPs may also contribute in the fight against cancer in other molecular mechanisms. For example. it is well known that p53 is the most frequently mutated cell cycle suppressor gene in human cancers; this results in the loss of p53's function as a transcriptional factor and as a cellular gatekeeper for growth and division (114). In cancers without p53 mutations, the p53 pathway is often inactivated, which partly occurs via E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase, MDM2 (Murine Double Minute 2), a negative regulator of p53 (115). Activation of the p53 protein protects the organism against the propagation of cells that carry damaged DNA with potentially oncogenic mutations. Because the p53-MDM2 interaction is structurally and biologically well understood, the design of small molecules that disrupt or prevent it, has become an important target for cancer therapy and is currently a hotly pursued therapeutic strategy (116-117).

In order to assess the efficacy of a recombinant FIP from Ganoderma lucidum (rLZ-8) as a modulator of this pathway, human lung cancer cells A549, and Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC)-1 xenograft-mice, were used as in vitro and in vivo models, respectively. It showed that at concentration of 10-15 mcg/ml of cell culture rLZ-8 is a successful anticancer agent that interact with p53 regulating via stabilization in cancer cells via the RPS7-MDM2 pathway, suggesting that rLZ-8 is a potential novel chemoprevention and treatment agent for lung cancer (118). This inhibition was associated with an increased expression of p53. p53, p21/Cip1 and p27/Kip1, generating inhibition and cell cycle arrest G1 stage. In experiments using LLC1 (Lewis Lung Cell), mouse cells were treated with LZ-8 resulting in inhibition of cell proliferation at a similar concentration of that apply to the A549 cell line, proving that p53 is also involved in the inhibitory effect of LLC1 cell growth. Moreover, it was shown that rLZ-8 reduces pre-rRNA expression, which suggests that rLZ-8 may affect pathways associated with either RNA polymerase I activity or the various transcriptional factors that are involved in rRNA transcription in cancer cells (118). All this results have shown that rLZ-8 inhibits the proliferation of lung cancer cells in vitro and in vivo via p53-dependent cellular arrest that probably is also associated with a perturbation of ribosome biogenesis. Presumably, these findings support the idea of a cross talking between rLZ-8 and the S7-MDM2-p53 pathway. providing a novel molecular mechanism whereby rLZ-8 may exerts its anticancer function, or at less in part. (118)

A similar effect against the proliferation of lung cancer cells was demonstrated using FIP-gts isolated from *Ganoderma tsugae* (64). Doses of 0.3 μ M of rFIP-gts reduced the number of A549 cell culture colonies formed in agar by 50% when compared with control cells (119). In addition, an *in vivo* anti-tumor experiment was performed using nude mice xenograft model

subcutaneously inoculated with A549 cells, showing a significant inhibition of tumor growth in mice treated with rFIP-gts at therapeutic doses of 12.8 mg/kg of body weight (119) Thus, this study has shown that rFIP-gts suppresses tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

A similar effect against lung cancer was discovered in FIP-ami, which exhibit 83.8% amino acids sequence similarity with FIP-gts (120). FIPgmi shows a potent inhibitory effect on epidermal growth factor (EGF) when the peptide was cloned from Ganoderma Microsporum and used as bioactive compound in cell culture of a lung cancer model (120). The EGF/EGFR interaction is important for the development of lung cancer, as it is well known that EGF induce invasion and metastasis of A549 lung cancer cells, leading to an increase of PI3K/Akt, which results in up-regulation of Rac1/Cdc42 activity and assembly of cell-cell contacts, as well as enhanced invasion by tumor cells (121-123). At this respect, it has been evidenced that FIP-gmi inhibits EGF-induced A549 cell migration and invasion by wound-healing assav and modified Bovden chamber via downregulation of EGFR activity. This FIP down-regulated p-EGFR expression and inhibited cell migration and invasion of A549 model cells, through blocking of the EGF/phosphoEGFRPI3K/Akt pathway. In addition, significant changes were noticed in acting conformation following FIP-gmi repression of invasive growth (120) Thus, GMI might be an excellent candidate for use in clinical therapies and has considerable potential for lung cancer chemoprevention specifically.

There is another interesting drug therapy target where FIPs may have a significant therapeutic potential. For instance, because of the critical role of the nuclear transcription factor NF-kB (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) in inflammation, viral replication, carcinogenesis, antiapoptosis, invasion, and metastasis, specific inhibitors of this nuclear factor are being sought and tested as possible treatments for these diseases (124). NF-kB has been shown to regulate the expression of several genes, the products of which are involved in lung inflammation and tumorigenesis, including matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9). In addition, NFκB constitutive activation is related to the progression of various malignant neoplasms by carcinogens, inflammatory agents, and tumor promoters, such as cigarette smoke, H₂O₂, and TNF-α (124).

The activation of NF- κ B involves the phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and degradation of IkB α , a specific inhibitor of κ B with sequence rich in ankyrin repeats, and phosphorylation of p65, a nuclear factor that in humans is encoded by the RELA gene. This in turn leads to the translocation of NF- κ B from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, where it binds to specific response elements in the DNA. IkB α is one member of

a family of cellular proteins that function to inhibit the NF- κ B transcription factor; the $l\kappa$ B α protein sequesters the transcription factor NF- κ B, maintaining it as an inactive complex in the cytoplasm (125).

It has been demonstrated that FIP-qmi from Ganoderma Microsporum suppresses the proteolytic activity of MMP-9 (126). In this research, using human alveolar epithelial A549 cells as a model. It demonstrated that MMP-9 activity induced by TNF-α is successfully interfered by FIP-gmi through down-regulation of NF-kB, probably by inhibiting its translocation. Apparently, the mechanism of bioactivity of this FIP involves interference with the inhibitory nuclear factor $I\kappa B\alpha$. In addition, these authors provide evidence that the phosphorylation, degradation, suppression, and translocation to the nucleus of p65 are also affected by FIP-qmi. Based on immunocytochemistry analysis. FIP-qmi suppressed TNF-α-induced nuclear translocation of NF-κB p65. impeding expression of MMP-9. When the expression of MMP-9 is increased constitutively, it raises the probability of metastasis in various cancers, including lung cancer. These findings support the importance of FIP-gmi in suppression of invasive activity through the NF-κB/MMP-9 pathway: therefore, FIP-qmi can be a potential chemo-preventive agent against invasion of tumor cells (126)

There are another molecular and cellular mechanisms related with cell pathological proliferation that have interesting potential for FIPs to be interfered. as it is suggested by recent experimental evidence. Autophagy is a lysosomal degradation pathway that controls the quality and balance of cytoplasmic constituents, involving protein and organelles; it is proposed as an important target for cancer therapy, and its disruption is a promising strategy for increasing sensitivity to therapeutic agents (127). It has been suggested that lysosome inhibitors enhance the effects of FIP-gmi on cell death, where this FIP acts as a mediator that increase the effects on autophagic cell death during co-administration with lysosome inhibitors bafilomycin-A1 and chloroquine (128). In that study, both lysosome inhibitors significantly enhanced FIP-induced cell death when FIP-gmi and bafilomycin-A1 are co-administrated at concentrations as low as 0.3 µM and 0.5 nM, respectively. This cotreatment induces the accumulation of large amounts of autophagosomes, but do not significantly induce apoptosis. FIP-gmi elicited autophagy through the PI3K/Akt/mTOR mechanism, a mammalian target of rapamycin signaling pathway. This mechanism is important because is related to drug resistance in some cancer therapy schemes; inhibition of lysosomes fusion results in accumulation of autophagosomes as an initial mechanism of cell death. Therefore, the induction of FIP-gmi mediated autophagy can be an interesting therapeutic option in the fight against some

types of carcinogenic processes, including lung and colon cancer (61, 128).

Apparently, FIP-gmi also has the ability to stimulate apoptotic autophagy through caspase-7 pathway when combined with low-dose of cisplatin (a drug used in chemotherapy). The combination of 1.2 μM of FIP-gmi and 2.5 μM of cisplatin can increase the efficiency of the medication and reduce side effects observed when this drug is used at high doses (129). In addition, FIP-gmi elevates the intracellular calcium levels and reduces the growth of multidrug resistance sublines via autophagy and apoptosis, throughout the promotion of a significant pro-death and autophagy effect in multidrug resistant lung cancer cells, providing a potential strategy for overcoming multidrug resistance in the treatment of lung cancer (61).

FIPs also have exhibited antimetastasis properties during experimental assays. The formation of the centralspindlin complex is an important step necessary for several cellular functions that involve membrane deformations and cell movements, including metastasis, which makes of this process an important therapeutic target against malignant cells metastatic behavior. RacGAP1 is a gene that encodes a GTPaseactivating protein (GAP) that is a component of the centralspindlin complex. It serves as a microtubuledependent and Rho-mediated signaling required for the myosin contractile ring formation during the cell cycle cytokinesis. This protein binds activated forms of Rho GTPases and stimulates GTP hydrolysis, which results in negative regulation of Rho-mediated signals. This protein plays a regulatory role in cytokinesis, cell growth, and differentiation. Recently, a demonstration that RACGAP1-STAT3-survivin signaling pathway is required for the invasive phenotype of uterine carcinogenesis and is a newly identified therapeutic target in this lethal disease (130).

With respect to fungal immunomodulatory experiments demonstrate that oral administration of FIP-fve generates significant antitumor activity in mice bearing BNL hepatoma cells (131). In this study, FIP-fve treatment in combination with anti-IFN-y neutralizes mAb, resulting in lower antitumor effect than with FIP-fve treatment alone, providing evidence that FIP-fve reduces RacGAP1 expression resulting in antimetastasis and suppression of the proliferation of A549 cells via p53 activation pathway. It was also shown that FIP-fve increases p53 expression, as well as the expression of its downstream gene p21, on a Western blot analysis. In addition, FIP-fve inhibited migration of A549 cells on wound healing assay and decreased filopodia fiber formation on labeling with Texas Red-X phalloidin. At FIP-fve concentrations of 3.75 and 7.50 µM, percentages of migrating cells decreased to 43percent and 14% at 24 h and 13 % and 3 % at 48 h, respectively, showed that FIP-fve induces dose-dependent decreases in both migration and invasion (131).

In other work, Xu et al. (2016) reported that, at a concentration of 10 μg/mL, FIP-gta from Ganoderma atrum could induce apoptosis and growth inhibition on cells MDA-MB-231, a cell line of breast cancer. The experiment suggest that FIP-gas could arrest the cell cycle in stage G1, because it was observed that a high percentage of cells were in this phase and a low percentage in S phase; Also, it was evident that the cells in the presence of FIP-gas had a high proportion in late apoptotic state, compared to control cells. Furthermore, this study analyzed the gene profile expression using microarrays and identified 669 differentially expressed genes, the grouping of these genes revealed that 96 are related to biological processes including cell death, cell growth and cell adhesion, among others. The authors performed realtime PCR to ten of these genes (TNFSF8, SQSTM1, DUSP1, SMPD1, BCL-2, JAK2, ITPR1, CCR10, Cckbr, and DRD1) whose function is related to cell growth and death; of these, only Cckbr was not overexpressed. The expression profile allowed to infer a possible mechanism of biological action generated by FIP-gas are by inhibiting cell growth and induce apoptosis in this cell line (132).

Findings, altogether, are an important contribution to understanding the impact of FIP on tumor cells. The elucidation of their possible molecular and cellular mechanisms of action is a step forward to the development of more effective cancer treatments.

8. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Purification of FIPs from wild or cultivated mushrooms remains low yielded, complicated, time consuming, and costly, so research is now focused on identifying new FIPs by other molecular methods and characterizing their expression. These methods include genomic and transcriptomic sequencing.

With the goal to obtain enough amounts of FIPs for practical uses, several genetic engineering approaches have been applied in order to improve the yields of peptide in cell culture. So far, the most developed expression systems are using *E. coli*, yeast and insect cells. The gene encoding FIPs has been effectively expressed in these prokaryotes and eukaryotes expression models. The FIP recombinant proteins produced in *E. coli*, with a tag consisting in an expressed fusion protein of glutathione S-transferase (GST), are soluble and high quantity, which can be convenient for their future industrial applications.

Nowadays, the yeast and insect cell expression systems are commonly used for the FIPs

production, with the purpose to obtain proper folding and post-translational modifications. Yet, there is not consensus about these protein modifications to be necessary for the bioactivity in the vertebrate; in addition, these two expression systems are also facing disadvantages of long growth cycle, high cost, and complicated purification procedures.

The studies conducted on FIPs are commonly aimed to discovery of the characteristics and pinpointing the molecular pathways interfered in vertebrates by these proteins and exploring their potential in human health. Even though this goal is in the an early stage, there are still some important insights to understand some mechanisms of the FIPs activity, particularly in relation to its immunomodulatory effects on the vertebrate's immune system and as anticancer agents acting against malignant cells.

In spite of several researches demonstrating their potential benefits in the battle against several diseases or as adjuvants in the treatment of some important diseases, including cancer, inflammatory, allergic and immune deficiencies, there is still a need for more intensive research that convincingly support the development of a FIP-based new therapeutic drug. This underscore the importance of continuing the research on FIPs in order, not just to find new applications from promising mushroom species of great potential in human health, but to elucidate the complex molecular and cellular mechanisms and immunological pathways undergoing their modulatory effects.

Since the discovery in 1989 of the first fungal immunomodulatory protein (FIP-LZ8) from *Ganoderma lucidum*, there have gradually increased the reports of such proteins in different species of edible and medicinal mushrooms. Most studies focus on the assessment and clarification of cellular and molecular mechanisms triggered by this type of proteins because of their great potential in the activation of the immune response in human cells. In this context, OMIC sciences play a key role in the knowledge of these mechanisms so far poorly understood.

Regardless of being highly conserved in primary sequence and structure, the studies shown that FIPs family members have a broad spectrum of biological activities in vertebrate experimental models (cell culture and animals). The effects include systemic anaphylactic reactions, cell aggregation, hemagglutination, stimulation of mouse splenocytes proliferation and human peripheral blood lymphocytes, changes in the expression of several cytokines, particularly IL-2, IFN- γ , and TNF- α .

Considering all the evidence available so far, it can be stablished that FIPs appear as promising targets for the development of new therapeutic drugs

for the treatment of various human diseases. They offer unique opportunities derived from its nature, as they are phylogenetically related with vertebrate's immune system, reflected mainly by its similarity with immunoglobulins. In the other hand, its small molecular size and not need of sophisticated post-translational peptide folding or biochemical modifications, make FIPs excellent candidates for manipulations by means of molecular engineering techniques and designing of scalable industrial production protocols.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Paula Tatiana Uribe E and German Ariel López G. equally contributed to this work. This work was supported by COLCIENCIAS, call 727 of 2015 National Doctorates, University of Caldas and University of Manizales- Idiom Center (Manizales, Colombia).

10. REFERENCES

- G. Ganeshpurkar, G. Rai and A.P. Jain: Medicinal mushrooms: Towards a new horizon. *Pharmacogno Rev 4* (8), 127-135 (2010)
 - DOI: 10.4103/0973-7847.70904
- 2. G.M. Mueller and J.P. Schmit: Fungal biodiversity: what do we know? What can we predict?. *Biodivers Conserv* 16(1), 1-5. (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1007/s10531-006-9117-7
- 3. M. Blackwell: The Fungi: 1, 2, 3 ... 5.1 million species? *Am J Bot* 98(3), 426-438 (2011) DOI: 10.3732/ajb.1000298
- 4. J. Zhong, B. Feng-Wu and Z.Wei (Editors) Biotechnology in China I: From Bioreaction to Bioseparation and Bioremediation. Springer Berlin Heidelberg ISBN 978-3-540-88415-6 (2009)
- J.J. Zhong and J.H Xiao: Secondary metabolites from higher fungi: discovery, bioactivity, and bioproduction. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 113, 79–150 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/10_2008_26
- C. Manoharachary, K. Sridhar, R. Singh, A. Adholeya, T.S. Suryanarayanan, S. Rawat and B.N. Johri: Fungal biodiversity: distribution, conservation and prospecting of fungi from India. *Curr Sci* 89, 58–71 (2005)
- 7. G.A. Strobel: Endophytes as sources of bioactive products. *Microbe Infect* 5, 535–544 (2003)

DOI: 10.1016/S1286-4579(03)00073-X

- E.L. Cooper: Drug Discovery, CAM and Natural Products. eCAM. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 1(3), 215– 217(2004)
 - DOI: 10.1093/ecam/neh032
- G. M. König, S. Kehraus, S. F. Seibert, A. Abdel-Lateff, and D. Müller D: Natural products from marine organisms and their associated microbes. *Chembiochem* 7, 229-238 (2006) DOI: 10.1002/cbic.200500087
- J. Zhao, L. Zhou, J. Wang, T. Shan, L. Zhong, X. Liu, and X. Gao: Endophytic fungi for producing bioactive compounds originally from their host plants. Current Research, Technology and Education Topics in Applied Microbiology and Microbial Biotechnology 567-576 (2010)
- I.C.F.R. Ferreira, J.A. Vaz, M.H. Vasconcelos and A. Martins: Compounds from Wild Mushrooms with Antitumor Potential. *Anti-Cancer Agents Med Chem* 10(5), 424-436 (2010)
 - DOI: 10.2174/1871520611009050424
- J.J. Zhang, Y. Li, T. Zhou, D.P. Xu, P. Zhang, S. Li, and H.B. Li: Bioactivities and Health Benefits of Mushrooms Mainly from China. *Molecules* 21, 938 (2016) DOI: 10.3390/molecules21070938
- X. Xu, H. Yan, J. Chen, X. Zhang: Bioactive proteins from mushrooms. *Biotechnol Adv* 29, 667–674. (2011)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.05.003
- K. Kino, A. Yamashita, K. Yamaoka, J. Watanabe, S. Tanaka, K. Ko, K. Shimizu and H. Tsunoo: Isolation and characterization of a new immunomodulatory protein, ling zhi-8 (LZ-8), from *Ganoderma lucidium*. *J Biol Chem* 264 (1), 472-478 (1989)
- W.H. Lin, CH. Hung CH, C.I. Hsu and J.Y Lin: Dimerization of the N-terminal Amphipathic a-Helix Domain ofthe Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein from Ganoderma tsugae(Fip-gts) Defined by a Yeast Two-hybrid System and Site-directed Mutagenesis. J Biol Chem 272 (32), 20044-20048 (1997) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.272.32.20044
- X.W. Zhou, M. Xie, F. Hong and Q.Z. Li: Genomic Cloning and Characterization of a FIP-gsi Gene Encoding a Fungal

- Immunomodulatory Protein from *Ganoderma* sinense Zhao et al (Aphyllophoromycet) Int J Med Mushrooms 11 (1), 77-86 (2009) DOI: 10.1615/IntJMedMushr.v11.i1.90
- M.Y. Wu, M. F. Hsu, Ch.Sh. Huang, H.Y. Fu, Ch. T. Huang, and Ch.Sh. Yang: A 2.0 Å Structure of GMI, a Member of the Fungal Immunomodulator y Protein Family from Ganoderma Microsporum. NSRRC Activity Report II 132(2007)
- J.L. Ko, C.I. Hsu, R.H. Li, C.J. Kao and J.Y. Lin. A new fungal immunomodulatory protein, FIP-fve isolated from the edible mushroom *Flammulina velutipes* and its complete amino acid sequence: *Eur J Biochem*, 228, 244-249 (1995) DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.tb20256.x
- 19. H.C. Hsu, C.I. Hsu, R.H. Lin, C.L. Kao, and J.Y. Lin: Fip-vvo, A New Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein. *J Biol Chem* 323, 557-565 (1997)
- F. Sheu, P.J. Chien, A.L. Chien, Y.F. Chen and K.L. Chin: Isolation and characterization of an immunomodulatory protein (APP) from the Jew's Ear mushroom *Auricularia polytricha*. Food Chem 87, 593-600 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2004.01.015
- F. Sheu , P.J. Chien, K.Y. Hsieh, K.L. Chin, W.T. Huang, C.Y. Tsao, Y.F. Chen, H.CH. Cheng and H.H. Chang: Purification, cloning, and functional characterization of a novel immunomodulatory protein from Antroida camphorate (Bitter mushroom) that exhibits TLR2- dependent NF-kB activation and M1 polarization within murine macrophages. J. Agric Food Chem (57), 4130-4141(2009)
- 22. F. Sheu, P.J. Chien, H.K. Wang, H.H. Chang, Y.T. Shyu: New protein PCiP from edible golden oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus citrinopileatus*) activating murine macrophages and splenocytes. *J Sci Food Agr* 87 (8), 1550-1558 (2007) DOI: 10.1002/jsfa.2887
- 23. HH. Chang, CH. Yeh and F. Sheu: A Novel Immunomodulatory Protein from *Poria cocos* Induces Toll-like Receptor 4-Dependent Activation within Mouse Peritoneal Macrophages. *J Agric Food Chem 57* (14), 6129–6139 (2009)

 DOI: 10.1021/jf9011399

- F. Li, H. Wen, Y. Zhang, M. Aa and X. Liu: Purification and characterization of a novel immunomodulatory protein from the medicinal mushroom *Trametes versicolor*. Sci China Life Sci 54, 379-385 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s11427-011-4153-2
- F. Li, H. Wen, X. Liu, F. Zhou and G. Chen: Gene cloning and recombinant expression of a novel fungal immunomodulatory protein from Trametes versicolor. *Protein Expr Purif* 82, 339–344 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.pep.2012.01.015
- S.Y. Li, L.J. Shi, Y. Ding, Y. Nie and X.M: Tang. Identification and functional characterization of a novel fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Postia placenta*. Food Chem Toxicol 64-70, 64-70 (2015)
- 27. J.W. Lin, S.Y. Guan, Z.W. Duan, Y.H. Shen, W.L. Fan, L.J. Chen, L. Zhang, L. Zhang and T.L. Li: Gene cloning of a novel fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Chroogomphis rutilus* and its expression in *Pichia pastoris. J Chem Technol Biotechnol* (2016)
 DOI: 10.1002/jctb.4881
- 28. V. Pushparajah, A. Fatima, CH. Chong, T.Z. Gambule, C.J. Chan, S.T. Ng, C.S. Tan, S.Y Fung, S.S. Lee, N.H Tan and R.L. Lim: Characterisation of a New Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein from Tiger Milk mushroom, *Lignosus rhinocerotis*. *Sci Rep* 6, 1-16 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/srep30010
- 29. S. Li, Y. Nie, Y. Ding, L. Shi and X. Tang: Recombinant Expression of a Novel Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein with Human Tumor Cell Antiproliferative Activity from Nectria haematococca. Int J Mol Sci 15, 17751-17764 (2014)
 DOI: 10.3390/ijms151017751
- H.Y. Yap, Y.H. Chooi, M. Firdaus-Raih, S.Y. Fung, S.T. Ng, C.S. Tan and N.H. Tan: The genome of the Tiger Milk mushroom, *Lignosus rhinocerotis*, provides insights into the genetic. *BMC Genomics* 15, 635 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-635
- 31. Murasugi A, S. Tanaka, N. Komiyama, N. Iwata, K. Kino, H. Tsunoo and S. Sakuma: Molecular Cloning of a cDNA and a Gene Encoding an Immunomodulatory Protein, Ling Zhi-8, from a Fungus *Ganoderma lucidum. J Biol Chem* 266 (4), 2486-2493(1991)

- S. Tanaka, K. Ko, K. Kino, K. Tsuchiya, A. Yamashita, A. Murasugi, S. Sakuma and H. Tsunoo. Complete Amino Acid Sequence of an Immunomodulatory Protein, Ling Zhi-8 (LZ-8) J Biol Chem 264(28) (1989)
- 33. X.F. Wang, K.Q. Su, T.W. Bao, W.R. Cong, Y.F. Chen, Q.Z. Li and X.W. Zhou. Immunomodulatory effects of fungal proteins. *Cur Top Nutraceut 10* (1), 1-12 (2012)
- 34. S.L. Baldauf and J.D. Palmer: Animals and fungi are each other's closest relatives: congruent evidence from multiple proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 11558–11562 (1993)
 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.90.24.11558
- P.O. Wainright, G. Hinkle, M.L. Sogin and S.K. Stickel. Monophyletic origins of the metazoa: an evolutionary link with fungi. *Science* 260, 340–342 (1993) DOI: 10.1126/science.8469985
- A.M. Calvo, R.A. Wilson, J.W. Bok and N.P. Keller: Relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66, 447–459 (2002) DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.66.3.447-459.2002
- O.M. Bayram and G.H. Braus: Coordination of secondary metabolism and development in fungi: the velvet family of regulatory proteins. FEMS Microbiol Rev 36, 1–24 (2012) DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00285.x
- H.S. Park and J.H. Yu: Genetic control of asexual sporulation in filamentous fungi. Curr Opin Microbiol 15, 669–677 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2012.09.006
- 39. Y.L. Ahmed, J. Gerke, J. H.S. Park, O. Bayram, P. Neumann, M. Ni, A. Dickmanns, S.C. Kim, J.H. Yu, G.H. Braus and R. Ficne: The Velvet Family of Fungal Regulators Contains a DNA-Binding Domain Structurally Similar to NF-kB. *PLOS Biol* 11(12), e1001750 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001750
- M. Christmann, T. Schmaler, C. Gordon, X. Huang and Ö. Bayram, J. Schinke, S. Stumpf, W. Dubiel and G. H. Braus: Control of multicellular development by the physically interacting deneddylases DEN1/ DenA and COP9 signalosome. *PLoS Genet* 9, e1003275 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003275

- 41. G J Yu, Y.L. Yin, W.H Yu, W. Liu, Y.X. Jin, A. Shrestha, Q. Yang, X.D. Ye and H. Sun: Proteome Exploration to Provide a Resource for the Investigation of *Ganoderma lucidum*. *PLOS One* 10(3): e0119439 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119439
- 42. T. Gerngross: Advances in the production of human therapeutic proteins in yeasts and filamentous fungi. *Nat Biotechnol* 22(11), 1409-1414 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1028
- 43. Q.Z. Li, X.F. Wang and X.W. Zhou: Recent status and prospects of the fungal immunomodulatory protein family. *Crit Rev Biotec, 31* (4), 365-375 (2011) DOI: 10.3109/07388551.2010.543967
- 44. P.H. Wang, C.I. Hsu, S.C. Tang, Y.L. Huang, J.Y. Lin and J.L. Ko: Fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Flammulina velutipes* induces interferon-gamma production through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *J Agric Food Chem* 52, 2721-2725 (2004) DOI: 10.1021/jf034556s
- 45. WR. Cong, H. Xu, Y. Liu, QZ. Li, W. Li, and XW. Zhou: Production and functional characterization of a novel fungal immunomodulatory protein FIP-SN15 shuffled from two genes of Ganoderma species. *Appl Microbiol Biotechno* 98, 5967-5975 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1007/s00253-014-5539-4
- 46. J.W. Lin, L.X. Hao, G.X. Xu, F. Sun, F. Gao, R. Zhang and L.X. Liu: Molecular cloning and recombinant expression of a gene encoding a fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Ganoderma lucidum* in *Pichia pastoris*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25, 383-390 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1007/s11274-008-9902-4
- 47. M. Rai, G. Tidke and S. Wasser: Therapeutic potential of mushrooms. *Nat Prod Radiance* 4(4), 246-257 (2005)
- N.P. Keller, G. Turner, and J.W. Bennett: Fungal secondary metabolism - From biochemistry to genomics. *Nature Rev Microbiol* 3, 937-947 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro1286
- 49. B. Patwardhan and M. Gautam: Botanical immunodrugs: Scope and opportunities. *Drug Discov Today* 10(7), 495-502 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/S1359-6446(04)03357-4

- 50. R. Russell, and M. Paterson: *Ganoderma* A therapeutic fungal biofactory. *Phytochem* 67, 1985-2001 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.07.004
- G.M. Halpern: Healing mushrooms: ancient wisdom for better health. SQUAREONE Publishers. New York. ISBN-13: 978-0-7570-0199-4. (2007)
- 52. M.F. Moradali MF, H. Mostafavi, S. Ghods and G.A. Hedjaroude: Immunomodulating and anticancer agents in the realm of macromycetes fungi (macrofungi) *Int Immunopharmacol* 7, 701-724 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2007.01.008
- 53. X. Zhou, J. Lin, Y. Yin, J. Zhao, X, Sun and K. Tang: *Ganodermataceae*: Natural Products and Their Related Pharmacological Functions. *Am J Chin Med* 35(4), 559-574 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1142/S0192415X07005065
- 54. B.S. Sanodiyaa, G.S. Thakura, R.K. Baghela, G.B.K.S. Prasadb and P.S. Bisen: *Ganoderma lucidum*: A Potent Pharmacological Macrofungus. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* 10, 717-742 (2009) DOI: 10.2174/138920109789978757
- E. Guillamón, A. García-Lafuente, M. Lozano, M. D'Arrigo, M.A. Rostagno, A. Villares and J.A. Martínez: Edible mushrooms: Role in the prevention of cardiovascular diseases. *Fitoterapia* 81, 715-723 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.fitote.2010.06.005
- T. Walsh: Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2014. Nat Biotechnol 32(10), 992-1000 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1038/nbt.3040
- 57. J. Erjavec, J. Kos, M. Ravnikar, T. Dreo and J. Sabotic, J: Proteins of higher fungi from forest to application. *Trends Biotechnol* 30(5), 259-273 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2012.01.004
- S.A. Naz: A Review: "Health Benefits of Mushrooms". Online International Interdisciplinary Research Journal. Special Issue 4, 285-291 (2014) ISSN 2249-9598.
- 59. M. Haak-Frendscho, K. Kino, T. Sone, and P. Jardieu: Ling Zhi-8: A novel T cell mitogen induces cytokine production and upregulation of ICAM-1 expression. *Cell Immunol* 150, 101-113 (1993) DOI: 10.1006/cimm.1993.1182

- C.M. Yeh, C.K. Yeh, X.Y. Hsu, Q.M. Luo and M.Y. Lin: Extracellular Expression of a Functional Recombinant Ganoderma lucidium Immunomodulatory Proteinby Bacillus subtilis and Lactococcuslactis. Appl Environ Microb 74 (4), 1039-1049 (2008) DOI: 10.1128/AEM.01547-07
- 61. L.Y.Chiu, M.E.Hu, T.Y.Yang, I.L.Hsin, J.L.Ko, K.J. Tsai and G.T. Sheu: Immunomodulatory Protein from *Ganoderma microsporum* Induces Pro-Death Autophagy through Akt-mTOR-p70S6K Pathway Inhibition in Multidrug Resistant Lung Cancer Cells. *PLOS ONE* 10(5), 1-23 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0125774
- L. Huang, F. Sun, C. Liang, Y.X. He, R. Bao,
 L. Liu and CZ, Zhou: Crystal structure of
 LZ-8 from the medicinal fungus Ganoderma lucidum. Proteins 75, 524-527 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1002/prot.22346
- 63. L.G. van der Hem, J.A. van der Vliet, C.F. Bocken, K. Kino, A.J. Hoitsma and W.J. Tax: Ling Zhi-8: studies of a new immunomodulating agent. *Transplant* 60, 438-443 (1995)
 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199509000-00006
- 64. C.H. Liao, Y.M. Hsiao, C.P. Hsu, M.Y. Lin, J.C. Wang, Y.L. Huang, and J.L. Ko: Transcriptionally mediated inhibition of telomerase of fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Ganoderma tsugae* in A549 human lung adenocarcinoma cell line. *Mol Carcinog* 45, 220-229 (2006) DOI: 10.1002/mc.20161
- 65. C.H. Liao, Y.M. Hsiao, G.T. Sheu, J.T. Chang, P.H. Wang, M.F. Wu, G.J. Shieh and J.L. Ko. Nuclear translocation of telomerase reverse transcriptase and calcium signaling in repression of telomerase activity in human lung cancer cells by fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Ganoderma tsugae*. *Biochem Pharmacol* 74, 1541-1554 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2007.07.025
- 66. K. Ahmadi and M. Riazipour: T-2 Toxin Regulated Ganoderma lucidum Induced Cytokine Release. *Am J Immunol* 4(1), 8-13 (2008)
 DOI: 10.3844/ajisp.2008.8.13
- 67. S. Ipcho, T. Sundelin, G. Erbs, H.C. Kistler, M.A. Newman and S. Olsson: Fungal Innate Immunity Induced by Bacterial Microbe-

- Associated Molecular Patterns (MAMPs) G3 Genes Genomes Genetics 6,1585-1595 (2016) DOI: 10.1534/g3.116.027987
- 68. P.V. Jeurinka, C.L. Noguerab, H.F.J. Savelkoul, and H.J. Wichers: Immunomodulatory capacity of fungal proteins on the cytokine production of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Int Immunopharmacol* 8, 1124-1133. (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2008.04.004
- H.Y. Hsu, Y.C. Kuan, T.Y. Lin, S.M. Tsao, J. Hsu, J.M. Li and F. Sheu: Reishi Protein LZ-8 Induces FOXP3+ Treg Expansion via a CD45-Dependent Signaling Pathway and Alleviates Acute Intestinal Inflammation in Mice. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Evid Based Complem and Alternat Med 2013, 1-13. (2013)
- 70. F. Han, Y. Liu, LQ. Guo, X.L. Zeng, Z.M. Liu, J.F. Lin: Heterologous expression of the immunomodulatory protein gene from *Ganoderma sinense* in the basidiomycete *Coprinopsis cinerea*. *J ApplMicrobiol* 109, 1838-1844 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2010.04811.x
- 71. S. Bastiaan-Net, W. Chanput W, A. Hertz , RD. Zwittink , J.J. Mes and HJ. Wichers: Biochemical and functional characterization of recombinant fungal immunomodulatory proteins (rFIPs) Int Immunopharmacol 15, 167-175 (2013)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2012.11.003
- 72. HA. El Enshasy, R. Hatti-Kaul: Mushroom immunomodulators: unique molecules with unlimited applications. *Trends Biotechnol* 31(12), 668-677 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.09.003
- 73. Y.T. Lu, Y.C. Kuan, H.H. Chang, and F. Sheu: Molecular Cloning of a *Poria cocos* Protein That Activates Th1 Immune Response and Allays Th2 Cytokine and IgE Production in a Murine Atopic Dermatitis Model. *J. Am Chem Soc* 62, 2861-2871 (2014)
- L.A. Palomares, S. Estrada-Mondaca and O.T. Ramírez: Production of recombinant proteins: challenges and solutions. *Methods Mol Biol* 267:15-52 (2004) DOI: 10.1385/1-59259-774-2:015
- J.L. Ko, S.J. Lin, C.I. Hsu, C.L. Kao, and J.Y. Lin: Molecular cloning and expression of a

- fungal immunomodulatory protein, FIP-fve, from *Flammulina velutipes*. *J Formos Med Assoc* 96, 517–524. (1997)
- 76. A.R. Lara: Producción de proteínas recombinantes en *Escherichia coli. Rev Mex Ing Quim 10* (2), 209-223 (2011)
- G.J. Gopal and A. Kumar: Strategies for the Production of Recombinant Protein in Escherichia coli. Protein J 32, 419–425 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1007/s10930-013-9502-5
- 78. G.L. Rosano and E.A. Ceccarelli: Recombinant protein expression in Escherichia coli: advances and challenges. Front. Microbiol 5, 1-17 (2014) DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00172
- 79. X. Kong, J.Zhang, X. Han, P. Zhan, X, Dai, J. Liu, X. Zhang, I. Lee I and S.Liu: High-Yield Production in Escherichia coli of Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein Isolated from Flammulina velutipes and Its Bioactivity Assay in vivo. Int J Mol Sci 14, 2230-2241 (2013)
 DOI: 10.3390/ijms14022230
- 80. Q. Li, X. Wang, Y. Chen, J. Lin and X. Zhou: Cytokines Expression Induced by Ganoderma sinensis Fungal Immunomodulatory Proteins (FIP-gsi) in Mouse Spleen Cells. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 162, 1403-1413 (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s12010-010-8916-1
- 81. Promchai, R., B. Promdonkoy, S. Tanapongpipat, W. Visessanguan, L. Eurwilaichitr and P. Luxananil: A novel salt-inducible vector for efficient expression and secretion of heterologous proteins in *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Biotechnol* 222 86-93 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.02.019
- 82. Li, A. Anumanthan, X.G. Gao, K. Ilangovan, W. Suzara, N. Düzgüneş, and V. Renugopalakrishnan: Expression of Recombinant Proteins in *Pichia pastoris*. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol* 142, 105-124 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1007/s12010-007-0003-x
- 83. M. Ahmad, M.Hirz, H. Pichler H and H. Schwab: Protein expression in *Pichia past*oris: recent achievements and perspectives for heterologous protein production. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 98, 5301-5317 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00253-014-5732-5

- 84. J.W. Lin, J. Jia, Y.H. Shen, M. Zhong, L.J. Chen, H.G Li, H.Ma, Z.F. Guo, M.F Qi, L.X. Liu, and T.L. Li: Functional expression of FIP-fve, a fungal immunomodulatory protein from the edible mushroom *Flammulina velutipes* in *Pichia pastoris* GS115. *J Biotech* 168 (4), 527-533(2013)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2013.09.013
- 85. A.B. Maghodia, C. Geisler and D.L. Jarvis: Characterization of an Sf-rhabdovirus-negative *Spodoptera frugiperda* cell line as an alternative host for recombinant protein production in the baculovirus-insect cell system. *Protein Expres Purif* 122, 45-55 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.pep.2016.02.014
- T.R. Jinn, C.M. Wu, W.C. Tu, J.L. Ko, J.T. and Tzen JT: Functional Expression of FIP-gts, a Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein from *Ganoderma Tsugae* in Sf21 Insect Cells. *Biosci Biotech Bioch* 70 (11), 2627-2634 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1271/bbb.60232
- 87. T.Y. Wu, H.A. Chen, F.Y. Li, Lin C.T., C.M. Wu, F.C. Hsieh, J.T. Tzen, S.K. Hsieh, J.L. Ko and T.R. Jinn: High-Level Expression, Purification and Production of the Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein-Gts in Baculovirus-Infected Insect Larva. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol* 169, 976-989 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s12010-012-0049-2
- 88. C.M Wu, T.Y. Wu, S.S. Kao, J.L. Ko and T.R. Jinn. Expression and purification of a recombinant Fip-fve protein from *Flammulina velutipes* in baculovirus-infected insect cells. *J Appl Microbiol*, *104*, 1354-1362 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03686.x
- 89. J.E. Stajich, S.K. Wilke, D. Ahrén, C.H, Au, B.W. Birren, M. Borodovsky, C. Burns, B. Canbäck, L.A. Casselton, C.K. Cheng CK, J. Deng, F.S. Dietrich, D.C. Fargo, M.L. Farman, A.C. Gathman, J. Goldberg, R. Guigó, P.J. Hoegger, J.B. Hooker, A. Huggins, T.Y. James, T. Kamada, S. Kilaru, C.Kodira, U.Kües, D. Kupfer, H.S. Kwan, A. Lomsadze, W.Li, W.W.Lilly, L.J. Ma, A.J. Mackey, G. Manning, F. Martin, H. Muraguchi, D.O. Natvig, H. Palmerini, M.A. Ramesh, C.J. Rehmeyer, B.A. Roe, N. Shenoy, M. Stanke, V. V. Ter-Hovhannisyan, A. Tunlid, R. Velagapudi, T.J. Vision, Q. Zeng, M.E. Zolan and P.J. Pukkila: Insights into evolution of multicellular fungi from the assembled chromosomes of the mushroom

- Coprinopsis cinerea (Coprinuscinereus) PNAS 107 (26), 11889-11894. (2010) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1003391107
- Pukkila, P. Coprinopsis cinérea: Curr Biol 21 (16), R616-R617 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.05.042
- 91. J. Xu, M.C. Dolan, G. Medrano, C.L. Cramer and P.J. Weathers: Green factory: Plants as bioproduction platforms for recombinant proteins. *Biotechnol Adv* 30, 1171-1184 (2012)

DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.020

- E. Egelkrout, V. Rajan, and J.A. Howard: Overproduction of recombinant proteins in plants: *Plant Sci* 184, 83–101 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.12.005
- 93. Y.C. Kuo, C.C. Tan, J.T. Ku, W.C. Hsu, S.C. Su, C.A. Lu, and L.F. Huang: Improving Pharmaceutical Protein Production in *Oryza sativa*. *Int J Mol Sci* 14, 8719-8739 (2013) DOI: 10.3390/ijms14058719
- 94. M. Merlin, E. Gecchele, S. Capaldi, M. Pezzotti and L. Avesani: Comparative Evaluation of Recombinant Protein Production in Different Biofactories: The Green Perspective. *Bio Med Res Int* 2014, 1-14 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1155/2014/136419
- 95. C.F.Su, I.C. Kuo, P.W. Chen, CH. Huang, S.V. Seow, K.Y. Chua, and S.M. Yu: Characterization of an immunomodulatory Der p 2-FIP-fve fusion protein produced in transformed rice suspension cell culture. *Transgenic Res* 21, 177–192 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s11248-011-9518-6
- 96. W.R. Cong, Y. Liu, Q.Z. L and X.W. Zhou: Cloning and analysis of a functional promoter of fungal immunomodulatory protein from *Flammulina velutipes. Mol Biol Rep 41*, 4381–4387 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s11033-014-3309-0
- J.R. Swartz: Advances in Escherichia coli production of therapeutic proteins. Curr Opin Biotechnol 12,195-201 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S0958-1669(00)00199-3
- G. Potvin and Z. Zhang: Strategies for high-level recombinant protein expression in transgenic microalgae: A review. *Biotechnol Adv* 28, 910–918 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.08.006

- 99. N.A. Baeshen, M.N. Baeshen, A. Sheikh, R.S. Bora, M.M. Ahmed, H.A. Ramadan, K.S. Saini and E.M. Redwan: Cell factories for insulin production. *Microb Cell Fact* 13,141-149 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1186/s12934-014-0141-0
- 100. S. Wildt and T.U. Gerngross: The humanization of n-glycosylation pathways in yeast. *Nature Rev Microbiol* 3,119-128 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro1087

DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro1087

- 101. M. Bardor, C.Faveeuw, A.C. Fitchette, D. Gilbert, L. Galas, F. Trottein, L. Faye, and P. Lerouge: Immunoreactivity in mammals of two typical plant glyco-epitopes, core α(1,3)-fucose and core xylose. *Glycobiology* 13(6), 427-434 (2003) DOI: 10.1093/glycob/cwq024
- 102. E.L. Decker and R. Reski: The moss bioreactor. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 7, 166-170 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.pbi.2004.01.002
- 103. L. Doron, N. Segal and M. Shapira: Transgene Expression in Microalgae. From Tools to Applications. Front Plant Sci 2, 505 (2016) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00505
- 104. M. Goodman: Pharmaceutical industry financial performance. Nat Rev Drug Discov 8, 927-928 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/nrd3049
- 105. V. Vijayalakshmia and M. Srividyab: A study on financial performance of pharmaceutical industry in India. *J Manag Sci* 4(3), 36-54 (2014)
- 106. K.K. Devi and U. Maheswari: A Study on Financial Performance of Cipla Itd & Aurobindo Pharma Itd. A Comparative Analysis. J Progress Res Soc Sci 2(1), 36-39 (2015) ISSN: 2395-6283
- 107. J.A. Stenken and A.J. Poschenrieder: Bioanalytical chemistry of cytokines – A review. *Anal Chim Acta* 853, 95-115 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2014.10.009
- 108. J. Ferlay, I. Soerjomataram, R. Dikshit, S. Eser, C. Mathers, M. Rebelo, DM. Parki, D. Forman and F. Bray: Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer* E359–E386 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210

- 109. Y. Ding , S.V. Seow, CH. Huang, L.M.Liew, Y.C.Lim, I.C.Kuo and KY. Chua: Coadministration of the fungal immunomodulatory protein FIP-Fve and a tumour-associated antigen enhanced antitumour immunity. *Immunology 128*, e881–e894 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03099.x
- 110. A.M. Bodles-Brakhop and R. Draghia-Akli. DNA vaccination and gene therapy: optimization and delivery for cancer therapy. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 7,1085-1101 (2008) DOI: 10.1586/14760584.7.7.1085
- 111. T.Y. Weng, M.C. Yen, C.T. Huang, J.J. Hung, Y.L. Chen, W.C. Chen, C.Y. Wang, J.Y. Chang, J. Y and M.D. Lai: DNA vaccine elicits an efficient antitumor response by targeting the mutant Kras in a transgenic mouse lung cancer model. *Gene Ther* 21,888-896 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/gt.2014.67
- 112. C.C. Lin, Y.L. Yu, C.C. Shih, K.J. Liu, K.L. Ou, L.Z. Hong, J.D. Chen and C.L. Chu: A novel adjuvant Ling Zhi-8 enhances the efficacy of DNA cancer vaccine by activating dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 60, 1019-1027 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-011-1016-4
- 113. A.J. Levine: p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. *Cell* 88, 323-331 (1997) DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81871-1
- 114. F. Toledo and G. Wahl: Regulating the p53 pathway: *in vitro* hypotheses, *in vivo* veritas. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 6, 909-923 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/nrc2012
- 115. U.M. Moll and O. Petrenko: The MDM2-p53 Interaction. *Mol Cancer Res* 1(14), 1001-1008 (2003)
- 116. S. Shangary and S. Wang:Targeting the MDM2-p53 Interaction for Cancer Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 14(17), 5318-5324 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5136
- 117. C.T. Wu, T.Y. Lin, H.Y. Hsu, F. Sheu, C.M. Ho and E.I. Chen: Ling Zhi-8 mediates p53-dependent growth arrest of lung cancer cells proliferation via the ribosomal protein S7-MDM2-p53 pathway. *Carcinogenesis 32* (12), 1890-1896 (2011) DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgr221

- 118. C.H. Liao, Y.M. Hsiao, C.H. Lin, C.S. Yeh, J.C., Wang and C.H. Ni: Induction of premature senescence in human lung cancer by fungal immunomodulatory protein from Ganoderma tsugae. *Food Chem Toxicol* 46(5), 1851–1859 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.fct.2008.01.044
- 119. Ch. H. Lin, G.T. Sheu, Y.W. Lin, Ch.Sh. Yeh, Y.-H. Huang, Y.Ch. Lai, J.G. Chang and J.L. Ko: A new immunomodulatory protein from *Ganoderma microsporum* inhibits epidermal growth factor mediated migration and invasion in A549 lung cancer cells. *Process Biochem 45*, 1537-1542 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2010.06.006
- 120. Z. Lu, S. Ghosh, Z. Wang and T. Hunter: Downregulation of caveolin-1 function by EGF leads to the loss of E-cadherin, increased transcriptional activity of β-catenin, and enhanced tumor cell invasion. *Cancer Cell* 4(6), 499-515 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00304-0
- 121. M.L. Jaramillo, M. Banville, C. Collins, B. Paul-Roc, L. Bourget and M. O'Connor-McCourt: Differential sensitivity of A549 non small lung carcinoma cell responses to epidermal growth factor receptor pathway inhibitors. *Cancer Biol Ther* 7(4), 557- 68 (2008)

 DOI: 10.4161/cbt.7.4.5533
- 122. B.M. Chung, M. Dimri, M. George, A.L. Reddi, G. Chen, V. Band and H. Band, H: The role of cooperativity with Src in oncogenic transformation mediated by non-small cell lung cancer-associated EGF receptor mutants. *Oncogene* 28(16), 1821-32 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2009.31
- 123. Y. Takada, S. Singh and B.B. Aggarwal: Identification of a p65 peptide that selectively inhibits NF-κB activation induced by various inflammatory stimuli and its role in down-regulation of NF-κB mediated gene expression and up-regulation of apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 279(15), 15096-15104 (2004) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M311192200
- 124. L.K. Mosavi, D.L. Minor and Z. Peng: Consensus-derived structural determinants of the ankyrin repeat motif. *PNAS* 99(25), 16029-16034 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.252537899

- 125. C.H. Lin, C.Y. Hsiao, Ch. Ou, Y.W. Lin, Y.L. Chiu, K. Lue, J.G. Chang, and J.L. Ko: GMI, a Ganoderma Immunomodulatory Protein, Down-regulates Tumor Necrosis Factor r-Induced Expression of Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 via NF-KB Pathway in Human Alveolar Epithelial A549 Cells. J Agric Food Chem 58, 12014–12021 (2010) DOI: 10.1021/jf103068w
- 126. M.T. Rosenfeldt and K.M. Ryan: The multiple roles of autophagy in cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 32, 955-963 (2011) DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgr031
- 127.I.L. Hsin, G.T. Sheu, M.S. Jan, H.L. Sun, T.Ch. Wu, L.Y. Chiu, K.H. Lue and J.L. Ko: Inhibition of lysosome degradation on autophagosome formation and responses to GMI, an immunomodulatory protein from *Ganoderma microsporum. Br J Pharmaco* 167,1287–1300 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02073.x
- 128. I.L. Hsin, Ch. Ou, M.F. Wu, M.Sh. Jan, Y.M. Hsiao, Ch. Lin, and J.L. Ko: GMI, an immunomodulatory protein from Ganoderma microsporum, potentiates cisplatin-induced apoptosis via autophagy in lung cancer cells. *Mol Pharmaceutics* 12 (5), 1534-1543 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1021/mp500840z
- 129. S. Mi, M. Lin, J. Brouwer-Visser, J. Heim, D. Smotkin, T.M. Hebert, M.J. Gunter, G.L. Goldberg, D. Zheng, and G.S. Huang: RNA-seq identification of RACGAP1 as a metastatic driver in uterine carcinosarcoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 22(18), 4676-86 (2016)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2116

- 130. Y. Chang, Y.M. Hsiao, M.F. Wu, Ch. Ou, Y.W. Lin, K.H. Lue and J.L. Ko: Interruption of Lung Cancer Cell Migration and Proliferation by Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein FIP-fve from Flammulina velutipes. J Agric Food Chem 61, 12044-12052. (2013) DOI: 10.1021/jf4030272
- 131. H. Xu, Y.Y. Kong, X. Chen, M.Y. Guo, X.H. Bai, Y.J. Lu, W. Li and X.W, Zhou: Recombinant FIP-gat, a Fungal Immunomodulatory Protein from *Ganoderma atrum*, Induces Growth Inhibition and Cell Death in Breast Cancer Cells. *J Agric Food Chem 64*, 2690–2698 (2016) DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.6b00539

Key Words: Fungal Immunomodulatory Proteins, FIPs, Recombinant Proteins, Fungal Bioactivity, Review

Send correspondence to: German Ariel Lopez Gartner, Department, Natural Sciences Faculty, University of Caldas, Street 65 # 26-10, Manizales, Colombia Tel: 6-8781500–13189, Fax: 68781500-13194, E-mail: german.lopez@ucaldas.edu.co